# COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN

CITY OF QUESNEL

AND

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 1050

June 8/2020 - June 7/2024

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 -	RECOGNITION OF THE UNION AS BARGAINING AGENT	1
ARTICLE 2-	WORK OF THE BARGAINING UNIT	2
ARTICLE 3 -	NO OTHER AGREEMENTS	2
ARTICLE 4 – 4.01 4.02	NO DISCRIMINATION No Discrimination Personal or Sexual Harassment	2
ARTICLE 5 - 5.01 5.02 5.03	UNION SECURITYMembership as condition of Employment Acquaintance of new employees Union Meeting Attendance	3
ARTICLE 6 - 6.01 6.02	UNION DUES AND FEES DEDUCTIONS  Deduction of Dues  Deductions Begin	3
ARTICLE 7 -	NEW EMPLOYEES	3
ARTICLE 8 -	CORRESPONDENCE	4
ARTICLE 9 - 9.01 9.02 9.03	BARGAINING COMMITTEE AND LABOUR/MANAGEMENT COMMIBargaining Committee Labour/Management Committee Right to Assistance	ГТЕЕ4
ARTICLE 10 - 10.01 10.02 10.03 10.04 10.05	- WAGES, SALARIES AND CLASSIFICATIONS Classification of employees Employees on Hourly Rate New positions created Paydays Substitution Pay	5
ARTICLE 11 - 11.01 11.02 11.03 11.04 11.05	- GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE Election of Stewards Grievance Committee Permission to Leave Work Definition of Grievance Settling of Grievances	6

11.06	Policy Grievances
11.07	The Union May Initiate a Grievance
11.08	Replies to Grievances
ARTICLE 12 - A	DDITDATION
12.01	
	If a difference arises
12.02	Composition of Board of Arbitration
12.03	Board Procedure
12.04	Decision of the Board
12.05	Expenses of the Board
12.06	Amending of Time Limits
12.07	Witness
12.08	Attendance at Arbitration
12.09	Expedited Arbitration
ARTICLE 13 - D	ISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE12
13.01	Discharge or Suspension Procedure
13.02	Compensation for Unjust Suspension or Discharge
13.03	Warnings
13.04	Unjust Suspension or Discharge
13.05	Crossing of Picket Line During Strike
13.06	Notice of Absence from Work
	ENIORITY14
14.01	Seniority Defined
14.02	Seniority List
14.03	Definition of Employees
14.04	Loss of Seniority
14.05	Transfers and Seniority Outside the Bargaining Unit
ARTICLE 15 - P	ROMOTIONS AND JOB POSITIONS18
15.01	Job Postings
15.02	Information on Postings
15.03	No Outside Advertising
15.04	Method of Making Appointments
15.05	Trial Period
15.06	Filling of Vacancies on a Temporary Basis
15.07	Union Notification
	AYOFF AND RECALL
16.01	Layoff and Rehiring Procedure
16.02	No New Employees
16.03	Notice of Layoff

ARTICLE 17 - H	OURS OF WORK2	22
17.01	Normal Working Time	_
17.02	Minimum Hours	
17.03	Break Period	
17.04	Shift Differential	
17.05	Facilities Maintenance Workers 3	
17.06	Facilities Workers	
17.07	Definition of a Day	
ARTICLE 18 - O'	VERTIME	6
18.01	Overtime Distribution	J
18.02	Call-out overtime pay	
18.03	Call-out overtime pay  Call-out overtime Defined	
18.04		
18.05	Hours worked on a Holiday	
	No layoff to compensate for overtime	
18.06	Employees working unscheduled weekends	
18.07	Employees working unscheduled Sun/Mon Banked Overtime	
18.08		
18.09	Overtime Meal Allowance	
ARTICLE 19 - S	FAND-BY PROVISIONS29	}
19.01	Compensation	
19.02	Employees called to Duty	
19.03	Airport Employees	
ARTICLE 20 - S	FATUTORY HOLIDAYS29	}
20.01	List of Holidays	
20.02	Holidays Falling on Days of Rest	
20.03	Holidays During Vacation	
20.04	Statutory Holidays	
ADTIOLE 01 V	A C A TIONIC	`
	ACATIONS30	J
21.01	Length of Vacations	
21.02	Seasonal and Part-Time Employees	
21.03	Illness During Vacation	
21.04	Deferred Vacation Entitlement	
ARTICLE 22 - SI	CK LEAVE33	}
22.01	Eligibility	
22.02	Dental Appointments	
22.03	Time Off for Medical Appointments	
22.04	Family Responsibility Leave	

<b>ARTIC</b>	LE 23 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE	35
23.01	Leave for Union Business	
23.02	Union Conventions	
23.03	Leave for Union and Public Duties	
23.04	Bereavement Leave	
23.05	Compassionate Leave	
23.06	Mourner's Leave	
23.07	Jury Duty	
23.08	Education Leave	
23.09	General Leave	
23.10	Maternity/Paternity Leave	
23.11	Donor Leave	
ARTIC	LE 24 - PAYMENT OF WAGES AND ALLOWANCES	39
24.01	Pay During Temporary Transfer	
	Premium – Refrigeration Safety Awareness (RSA)	
24.03	Premium – Ice Facility Operator (IFO)	
ARTIC	LE 25 - JOB SECURITY	40
ARTIC	LE 26 - BENEFITS	41
26.01	Benefits	
26.02	Long Term Disability	
26.03	Underwriter	
26.04	Delay in Payment of Benefits	
26.05	Benefit Underwriters	
26.06	Benefit Continuance	
26.07	Part-time and Casual Benefits	
26.08	Employee and Family Assistance Program	
26.09	Medical Travel Plan	
	LE 27 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY	
27.01	Union/Employer Health and Safety Committee	
27.02	Health and Safety Committee Pay Provisions	
27.03	Injury Pay Provisions	
27.04	Right to Refuse	
27.05	Industrial First Aid Premium	
27.06	Working Alone	
27.07	Immunization	
27.08	Flagging Premium	
ARTIC	LE 28 - GENERAL CONDITIONS	46
28.01	Accommodations	

28.02	Bulletin Boards	
28.03	Fire Insurance	
28.04	Protective Clothing	
28.05	Job-Related Liability Protection	
28.06	Wellness Pass	
ARTICLE 29 -	PENSIONS	48
ARTICLE 30 -	TRAINING PROGRAMME – Public Works	48
ARTICLE 31 -	TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	48
	STUDENT EMPLOYEESHiring of Students	49
	No displacement of Workers	
	Public Works Student Work-Experience Program	
ARTICLE 33 -	SEVERANCE PAY	50
ARTICLE 34 -	TERM OF AGREEMENT	51
SCHEDULE "A	n 	52
SCHEDULE "B	, n 	54
SCHEDULE "C	NB	56
LETTERS OF L	JNDERSTANDING	
	ormal Working Time	57
	rt Time Positions	
	b Security and Operational Flexibility	
	Rebate Program	
	pployee Benefits Committee	
	ipioyee ber <u>ients committee</u>	
Re: Em		
Re: Em Re: <u>S</u> uc	ccessorship/ment for attending staff meetings	63

THIS AGREEMENT made this \_\_day of \_\_\_, 2020.

BETWEEN: THE CITY OF QUESNEL

A Municipality duly incorporated under the Statutes of the Province

of British Columbia (hereinafter called the "City")

OF THE FIRST PART

AND: CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 1050

Chartered by the Canadian Union of Public Employees (hereinafter

called the "Union")

OF THE SECOND PART

WHEREAS it is the intent and purpose of the parties hereto that this Agreement will promote and improve the industrial economic relationship between the City and the Union and set forth herein the basic agreement covering rates of pay, hours of work and conditions of employment to be observed between the parties hereto, PROVIDED that except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the management, supervision and control of the City's operation and the direction of the working force shall remain an exclusive management function subject always to the grievance procedure contained in this Agreement.

#### **USE OF TERMS:**

MASCULINE OR FEMININE – The masculine or feminine gender may be used interchangeably throughout this Agreement. Whenever one gender is used, it shall be construed as meaning the other if the facts or context require.

SINGULAR OR PLURAL – wherever the singular is used the same shall be construed as meaning the plural if the facts so require.

#### ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION OF THE UNION AS BARGAINING AGENT

1.01 The City, or anyone authorized to act on its behalf, recognizes the Union, or anyone authorized to act on its behalf, as the sole collective bargaining agency for all its employees as certified by the Labour Relations Code and hereby consents and agrees to negotiate with the Union or any authorized committee thereof in any and all matters affecting the relationship between the said City and its employees who are covered by this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE 2 - WORK OF THE BARGAINING UNIT

2.01

Persons whose jobs are not in the bargaining unit shall not work on any jobs which are included in the bargaining unit except for the purposes of instruction, experimenting or emergencies when regular employees are not available, and provided that the act of performing the aforementioned operation in itself does not reduce the hours of work or pay of any employee.

## ARTICLE 3 - NO OTHER AGREEMENTS

3.01

No employee who is covered under Article 1 of this Agreement shall be required or permitted to make any written or verbal agreement with the City or its representatives, which may conflict with the terms of the Collective Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 4 - NO DISCRIMINATION**

4.01

The City agrees that there shall be no discrimination, interference, restriction, or coercion exercised or practised with respect to any employee in the matter of hiring, wage rates, training, upgrading, promotion, transfers, layoffs, recall, discipline, discharge, or otherwise, by reason of age, sex, race, creed, colour, national origin, political or religious affiliation, marital status, nor by reason of his membership or activity in the Union.

#### 4.02 Personal or Sexual Harassment

The Employer and the Union recognize the right of employees to work in an environment free from personal or sexual harassment, and agree to cooperate in attempting to resolve in a confidential manner all complaints of harassment which may arise in the workplace.

Any complaint or allegation of harassment at the workplace will first be dealt with in compliance with The City of Quesnel's policy on harassment. Any complaint or allegation of harassment at the workplace which is not satisfactorily resolved shall be dealt with by the parties through the grievance procedure commencing at Step 3.

The Employer undertakes to discipline any person whether employed by the Employer or representing the Employer, shown to be engaging in personal or sexual harassment of another employee.

## **ARTICLE 5 - UNION SECURITY**

5.01

Every employee who is now or hereafter becomes a member of the Union, shall maintain his membership in the Union as a condition of his employment and every new employee whose employment commences hereafter shall, on commencement of his employment, apply for and maintain his membership in the Union as a condition of employment.

5.02

The City agrees to acquaint new employees with the fact that an Agreement between the parties is in effect including those conditions of employment set out in Articles 5 and 6 dealing with Union Security and Union Dues and Fees Deductions. New employees shall be presented with a copy of the Agreement, Application for Union Membership Card, and Dues Deduction Authorization Card, by the City on commencement of employment.

## 5.03 Union Meeting Attendance

Elected Union officers working shift work shall be permitted to attend Union meetings scheduled during their working hours, with no loss in pay, provided every attempt is made by the Union not to interfere with the work schedule. If time away from work is required, the elected Union officer shall submit the request in writing to their immediate supervisor, one (1) week in advance when reasonably possible.

# ARTICLE 6 - UNION DUES AND FEES DEDUCTIONS

6.01

The City agrees that it will during the life of this Agreement deduct monthly from the pay of all Union members covered by the bargaining unit, such dues, initiation fees and assessments as authorized by regular and proper vote of the membership of the Union, and to transmit the total of the amounts so deducted to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union on or before the tenth (10th) day of each month, along with a list of the employees in respect to whom such deductions have been made.

6.02

Deductions shall begin once a new employee has commenced work and the total annual Union deductions shall be calculated by the City and employee provided with a receipt.

#### **ARTICLE 7 - NEW EMPLOYEES**

7.01 On commencing employment, an employee's immediate supervisor shall

introduce the new employee to his Union Steward or representative.

#### ARTICLE 8 - CORRESPONDENCE

8.01

All correspondence between the parties arising out of this Agreement or incidental thereto shall pass between the City Manager or designate and the President of the Union.

## ARTICLE 9 - BARGAINING COMMITTEE AND LABOUR/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

# 9.01 Bargaining Committee

- (a) A Bargaining Committee shall be appointed to consist of not more than four (4) members of the City as appointees of the City and not more than four (4) members of the Union as appointees of the Union.
- (b) Any matters pertaining to the rates of pay, hours of work, working conditions, collective bargaining, etc., shall be referred to the Bargaining Committee for discussion and possible settlement.

## 9.02 Labour/Management Committee

- (a) A Labour/Management Committee shall be established consisting of up to four (4) representatives of the Union and up to four (4) representatives of the City. The Committee shall enjoy the full support of both parties in the interest of improved service to the public and job security for the employees.
- (b) The Labour/Management Committee meetings shall take place on a quarterly basis, which is to mean every third month, or whenever requested by either party.
- (c) Minutes of Labour/Management Committee meetings shall be jointly signed and posted on all bulletin boards, such signatures to indicate acknowledgement of topics of discussion only.
- (d) The Committee shall concern itself with the well-being of the City of Quesnel as a whole but more particularly, with those matters as listed below:
  - (i) Considering constructive criticisms of all activities involving employees so that better relations shall

exist between the City and the employees.

- (ii) Improving and extending services to the public.
- (iii) Reviewing suggestions from employees, questions of working conditions and service (but not grievances concerned with service).
- (iv) Correcting conditions causing grievances and misunderstandings.
- (e) In the event of either party wishing to call a meeting of the Committee, the meeting shall be held at a time and place fixed by mutual agreement, however such meeting must be held not later than ten (10) calendar days after the request has been given.
- (f) Any representative of the Union on this Committee who is in the employ of the City shall have the privilege of attending meetings of the Committee which will be held within working hours without loss of remuneration. In the event a meeting continues past the regular hours of work, no additional wages shall be paid to committee members.
- 9.03 Each party to this Agreement shall have the right to the assistance of any additional representative when dealing or negotiating with the other party.

## ARTICLE 10 - WAGES, SALARIES AND CLASSIFICATIONS

- The classification of employees covered by this Agreement and wages and salaries to be paid to such employees shall be set out in Schedules "A", "B" and "C" which are attached hereto and which are hereby declared to form part of this Agreement.
- 10.02 New employees engaged on an hourly rate shall be entitled to the basic rate of pay for the appropriate classification as set out in the said Schedules "A", "B" and "C".
- 10.03 (a) If a new position is created for which no classification exists, the wages for such new position and the classification thereof shall be established by agreement and when so established shall be deemed to have been set out in the said Schedules "A", "B" and "C". If agreement cannot be reached, the matter shall be referred

to arbitration under Article 12. Any change in rate resulting from discussion between the parties or following a reference to arbitration shall be retroactive to the date the new position was created

(b) If the Union claims that the duties of an existing classification have been changed to an extent sufficient to alter the classification and/or rate, the Union may request to meet with the City to review the classification and/or rate. If within thirty (30) calendar days of the submission of such request, which shall be in writing, mutual agreement cannot be reached, the difference may be referred to arbitration under the provisions of Article 12. Any change in rate resulting from discussions between the parties or following a reference to arbitration shall be retroactive to the date that the duties of the classification changed.

10.04 Paydays will be at noon on every second Friday, with rates of pay indicated by direct-deposit slips.

## 10.05 Substitution Pay

In the event an employee is required to work more than one classification during a shift, the employee shall be paid the higher rate for the duration worked up to two (2) hours. If the employee performs the duties of the higher rate for two (2) hours or more the employee shall receive the higher rate of pay for the entire shift.

#### ARTICLE 11 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

#### 11.01 Election of Stewards

In order to provide an orderly procedure for the settling of grievances, the City acknowledges the right of the Union to appoint or select stewards whose duties shall be to assist an employee, which the steward represents in preparing and presenting his grievance in accordance with the grievance procedure. The Union shall notify the City in writing of the name of each steward.

#### 11.02 Grievance Committee

The stewards so elected shall constitute the Grievance Committee so long as they remain employees or until their successors are named.

## 11.03 Permission to Leave Work

The City agrees that the stewards shall not be hindered, coerced, restrained or interfered with in any way in the performance of their duties of investigating disputes and presenting adjustments as provided in this Article. The Union understands and agrees that each steward is employed to perform full-time work for the City and he will not leave his work during working hours except to perform his duties under this Agreement. Therefore, no steward shall leave his work without obtaining the permission of his supervisor, which permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

In addition, no steward shall, in the performance of his/her duties of investigating disputes, interfere with the work of any employee, without first obtaining the permission of the supervisor of such employee, which permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

All employees shall have the right to have a Union steward present for any meeting with the employer that is to be investigatory or disciplinary in nature or affect the terms and conditions of their employment. The Employer will provide reasonable notice and the purpose of the meeting to the steward.

#### 11.04 Definition of Grievance

A grievance under this Agreement shall be defined as any difference or dispute between the City and any employee or the Union, or a case where the City has allegedly acted unjustly.

#### 11.05 <u>Settling of Grievances</u>

It is the intent of this Agreement to adjust as quickly as possible any complaints or difference between the parties arising from the interpretation, application, administration or alleged contravention of this Agreement.

Step 1 - An employee who believes he has a complaint or a difference shall discuss this matter with the immediate Management Supervisor within seven (7) working days of first becoming aware of the grievance and the Supervisor

shall respond within five (5) working days of the discussion.

The grievor has the right to have a shop steward present.

- Step 2 A grievance not settled at Step 1 above may be referred, in writing, within five (5) working days by a Union Representative to the appropriate Department Director or to a nominee appointed by him. The parties shall meet as soon as possible to investigate and attempt to resolve the grievance. The Employer shall reply in writing stating reason for the decision within five (5) working days of the date of the receipt of written referral to Step 2.
- Step 3 A grievance not settled at Step 2 may be referred in writing by the Union to the City Administrator within five (5) working days. Arrangements for the hearing with the City Administrator or his designate will be made within five (5) working days and the City Administrator will respond in writing within five (5) working days after the hearing. Within five (5) days of receiving the City Administrator's response the Union will notify the City Administrator or his designate of its acceptance or rejection of the reply.
- Step 4 A grievance not settled at Step 3 may be referred by mutual agreement to go directly to mediation.
- Step 5 A grievance not settled at Step 4 may be referred to Arbitration within five (5) working days of the mediator advising both parties in writing that they cannot resolve the dispute.

#### 11.06 Policy Grievances

Where a dispute involving a general application or interpretation occurs and where a group of employees or the Union has a grievance, the first and second steps of the grievance procedure may be bypassed.

## 11.07 The Union May Initiate a Grievance

The Union and its representatives have the right to originate a grievance for an employee or a group of employees.

#### 11.08 <u>Replies to Grievances</u>

Replies to grievances shall be in writing at all stages and state reasons.

#### **ARTICLE 12 - ARBITRATION**

12.01

If a difference arises between the parties relating to the dismissal, discipline or suspension of an employee, or to the interpretation, application, operation or alleged violation of this Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable, during the term of the Collective Agreement, Vince Ready, or a substitute agreed to by the parties, shall at the request of either party:

- (a) investigate the difference;
- (b) define the issue in the difference; and
- (c) make written recommendations to resolve the difference

Within thirty (30) days of the date of receipt of the request and, for those thirty (30) days from that date, time does not run in respect of the grievance procedure. By mutual agreement, the parties may proceed by way of a single arbitrator.

# 12.02 Composition of Board of Arbitration

After the grievance procedure has been followed and no settlement reached, then either party may request that the grievance be submitted to arbitration. The request shall be made in writing, addressed to the other party of the Agreement. Within five (5) working days thereafter each party shall name an arbitrator to an arbitration board and notify the other party of the name and address of its appointee and these two (2) appointees shall endeavour to agree upon and name a Chairman. If the recipient of the notice fails to appoint an arbitrator or if the two (2) appointees fail to agree upon a Chairman within five (5) working days, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour upon the request of either party.

#### 12.03 Board Procedure

The Board may determine its own procedure but shall give full opportunity to all parties to present evidence and make representation to it. The Board shall commence its proceedings within five (5) days after the Chairman is appointed. It shall hear and determine the difference or allegation and render its decision within ten (10) days from

the time of commencement of proceedings. The decision of the majority shall be the decision of the Board.

#### 12.04 Decision of the Board

The decision of the Board of Arbitration shall be final and binding on all parties but in no event shall the Board of Arbitration have the power to alter, modify or amend this Agreement in any respect. Should the parties disagree as to the meaning of the decision, either party may apply to the Chairman of the Board of Arbitration to reconvene the Board to clarify the decision, which it shall do within three (3) days.

## 12.05 Expenses of the Board

Each party shall pay:

- (a) the fees and expenses of the arbitrator it appoints;
- (b) one-half ( $\frac{1}{2}$ ) of the fees and expenses of the Chairman.

## 12.06 <u>Amending of Time Limits</u>

The time limits fixed in both the grievance and arbitration procedures may be extended by consent in writing of all parties to this Agreement.

#### 12.07 Witness

At any stage of the grievance or arbitration procedure, the parties shall have the assistance of any employee(s) concerned as witness and any other witnesses. The City agrees that any written statement against any member of the Union by another member of the Union shall not be used in grievances, arbitration, or any other matter excepting accident matters, that could be detrimental to employees or the Union. All reasonable arrangements will be made to permit the conferring parties or the arbitrator(s) to have access to the City's premises to view any working conditions which may be relevant to the settlement of the grievance. The party subpoenaing witnesses shall be responsible for the cost of the witness.

#### 12.08 Attendance at Arbitration

Two (2) representatives of the Union and the grievor(s) shall be entitled to attend at arbitrations without loss of pay and benefits.

# 12.09 Expedited Arbitration

By mutual agreement of the parties, an unresolved grievance proceeding to arbitration may be referred instead to an expedited or "fast-track" arbitration, which shall be chaired by a mutually agreed-to arbitrator, who shall agree to have the hearing be governed by the following criteria:

- (a) No legal counsel will be used by either party. The Union will use elected officers of the Local or a National Representative. The Employer will use either its excluded staff or its consultant.
- (b) The parties will try to arrive at a prepared, agreed-to statement of facts for joint presentation to the arbitrator.
- (c) Formal rules of evidence will be waived except for the rule of "onus".
- (d) The procedure guidelines for expedited arbitration are agreed to be as follows:

## (1) Opening Statement

The précis of the issues will set out the case from each party's perspective. The appointee will seek at this point to define the real issue and to determine what evidence is agreed to and what is not.

## (2) Hearing

Sufficient witnesses shall be called to ensure the facts and allegations are adequately canvassed. Where it is an issue of credibility or conflicting evidence, key individuals may be required by the appointee to testify.

#### (3) Argument

The parties will not cite exhaustive arbitral jurisprudence but will normally refer to Brown & Beatty or Palmer for summary purposes.

#### (4) Decision

If an attempt at a mediated settlement fails or is not appropriate, and if the ensuing arbitral decision can be rendered after a short deliberation, the arbitrator will do so.

## ARTICLE 13 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE

## 13.01 Discharge or Suspension Procedure

Any employee may be suspended or discharged only for just cause. The procedure for initiating discharge or suspension shall be as follows:

- a) The employee to be suspended or discharged shall be relieved of duties without pay at time of relief of duties.
- b) Unless instructed otherwise at the time of relief of duties, the employee to be suspended or discharged shall return to work at the commencement of his next regular shift and shall continue to work his regular shift until advised in writing of the disciplinary action to be taken. This advice shall be given within seven (7) working days of the initial relief of duties. This time limit may be extended should additional investigative time be required.
- c) If the decision is made to discharge or suspend an employee, the supervisor must advise the employee in writing and the discharge or suspension shall be implemented immediately.
- d) The Employer is able to put an employee on paid administrative leave in the event they are required to investigate a situation that could lead to discharge or suspension

An employee who considers himself to be wrongfully or unjustly discharged or suspended shall be entitled to a hearing under the grievance procedure. The first step of the grievance procedure shall be omitted in such case.

#### 13.02 <u>Compensation for Unjust Suspension or Discharge</u>

Should it be found upon investigation that an employee has been unjustly suspended or discharged, such employee shall be immediately reinstated in his former position without loss of seniority and shall be compensated for all time lost in an amount equal to his normal straight time earnings during the pay period preceding such discharge or suspension or by any other arrangement as to compensation which is just and equitable in the opinion of the parties or in the opinion of the Board of Arbitration if the matter is referred to such a Board.

## 13.03 Warnings

- (a) The City agrees to give written particulars of any warning, censure, suspension, dismissal or other disciplinary matters to the Union unless the employee requests otherwise.
- (b) The record of an employee shall not be used against him/her at any time in the following instances:
  - (i) When twenty-four (24) months have elapsed since a suspension provided there has been no recurrence of a similar infraction.
  - (ii) When twenty-four (24) months have elapsed since the issuance of a letter of reprimand provided there has been no recurrence of a similar infraction.
- (c) Employees shall be permitted access to their personnel files at a time mutually agreed upon between the employee and the employee's supervisor. Upon the request of an employee, material of an adverse or disciplinary nature shall be removed from the employee's own personnel file after twenty-four (24) months providing there has been no material of a similar nature added during that period.

# 13.04 Unjust Suspension or Discharge

In cases of discharge and discipline the burden of proof of just cause shall rest with the City.

## 13.05 <u>Crossing of Picket Line During Strike</u>

The City agrees that no employee shall be required to cross a legal picket line except to provide emergency service.

## 13.06 Notice of Absence from Work

All employees who must absent themselves from work, when scheduled to report to work, must notify their immediate supervisor prior to the commencement of their normal shift, unless notification is not possible.

#### **ARTICLE 14 - SENIORITY**

## 14.01 Seniority Defined

Seniority is defined as the length of service in the bargaining unit. Parttime employees working less than 26 hours, and casual employees, shall accumulate seniority proportionate to the hours worked in that status. Seniority will be recognized and converted to a date of hire as defined in Article 14.03 (a), (b), or (d), based on the hours worked as a casual employee, or a part-time employee working less than 26 hours of work.

## 14.02 <u>Seniority List</u>

The City shall maintain the seniority list showing the date on which each employee's service commenced, after completion of the probationary period. An up-to-date seniority list shall be sent to the Union and posted on all bulletin boards in January and July of each year.

## 14.03 Definition of Employees

## (a) Regular Full-Time Employee

Regular full-time employee shall be defined as a person who satisfactorily completes the probationary period with the City and who is employed on a regular full-time basis. Regular full-time employees shall enjoy all provisions of the Collective Agreement, with their seniority date being recognized as the date of hire.

### (b) Regular Part-Time Employees

Regular part time employee shall be defined as a person who satisfactorily completes the probationary period with the City and who is employed on a regular basis more than twenty-six (26) hours and less than thirty-five (35) hours per week for employees at City Hall and forty (40) hours per week for all other employees of the City.

Hours for regular part-time employees will be scheduled as consistently as possible.

Regular part-time employees shall enjoy all provisions of the

Collective Agreement, with seniority date being recognized at the date of hire.

## (c) Part Time Employees

Part Time Employees shall be defined as a person who satisfactorily completes the probationary period with the City and who is employed on a regular basis working less than twenty-six (26) hours per week.

Hours for part-time employees will be scheduled as

Hours for part-time employees will be scheduled as consistently as possible.

Part-time employees shall accrue seniority on an hourly basis.

Part-time employees shall receive one dollar and twenty cents (\$1.20) per hour in lieu of health and welfare benefits and shall be entitled to all other provisions of the collective agreement.

## d) Seasonal Employees

Seasonal employee shall be defined as a person who satisfactorily completes the probationary period with the City and who is employed on a seasonal basis in the summer or winter months. Seasonal employees can be working on a regular full-time, regular part-time, part-time or casual basis. Seasonal employees hired before June 8th, 2010 shall enjoy all provisions of the Collective Agreement, with the seniority date being recognized as the date of hire. Seasonal employees hired after June 8th, 2010 shall enjoy all provisions of the Collective Agreement, and will accumulate seniority on an hourly basis. Seasonal employees shall be paid out their vacation entitlement as per Article 21.02.

Seasonal part-time and casual employees working less than twenty-six (26) hours per week shall receive one dollar and twenty cents (\$1.20) per hour in lieu of health and welfare benefits.

Seasonal part-time and casual employees working less than twenty-six (26) hours shall accumulate seniority on an hourly basis.

## (e) Casual Employees

Casual employee shall be defined as a person who is employed on a day-to-day basis, or on call. Casual employees shall be hired as temporary replacement necessitated by illness, injury, leave of absence, vacation, or temporary filling of a vacancy.

In all cases, duration of casual employment shall not exceed

In all cases, duration of casual employment shall not exceed sixty (60) continuous working days, unless the period is extended by mutual agreement.

Casual employees shall accumulate seniority on an hourly basis.

Casual employees shall receive one dollar and twenty cents (\$1.20) per hour in lieu of all benefits, and shall receive compensation for benefits (vacation, statutory pay) as per the applicable Employment Standards Act.

## (f) Temporary Appointments

Temporary Appointments shall be offered on a time limited basis for a specific period which will be longer than forty five (45) days to cover absences such as sick leave or maternity leave. After completing three (3) months in a regular full or regular part time temporary appointment, greater than twenty six (26) hours per week, the incumbent will be entitled paid vacation leave and to benefits upon completion of an additional three (3) month waiting period.

Should said employee return to their less than twenty six (26) hour part time or casual position, they will revert to cash compensation for vacation and benefits. Any vacation credit earned but not taken may be banked for future use at a time mutually agreed between the parties.

Externally hired temporary employees will be paid out upon termination of their appointment and will not have internal bidding rights for the duration of the temporary appointment. If the temporary employee should successfully bid into a position through the external competition process during term of appointment or within thirty (30) days following

termination of employment he can retain previously accrued seniority. Effective for external hires on or after June 8, 2016.

## (g) Probationary Employees

Regular employees shall be on a probationary period of ninety (90) calendar days from the date of hiring. The probationary period may be extended by mutual agreement.

Regular employees working less than twenty-six (26) hours per week and casual employees shall be on probation for the first three hundred and sixty (360) hours of work, or until six (6) months expire from the date of hire, whichever comes first. In no case shall the probationary period be less than three (3) months.

During the probationary period, the employee shall be entitled to all rights and benefits of this Agreement except Superannuation and as provided in Article 26.03. After completion of the probationary period, seniority shall be effective from the original date of employment. This shall not apply to employees on special projects agreed to by the Union. Employees that have not fully completed their probationary period can apply for other positions but the City is not obligated to award them the position until they establish seniority, as per Article 14.

## 14.04 Loss of Seniority

An employee shall not lose seniority rights if he is absent from work because of sickness, accident, layoff or leave of absence approved by the City. An employee shall only lose his seniority in the event:

(a) He fails to return to work within seven (7) calendar days following a layoff after being notified to do so unless through sickness or other just cause. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to keep the City informed of his current address. Every reasonable effort shall be made by the Employer to contact the employee and if not able to achieve verbal or written confirmation of receipt of notification, the letter will be sent by registered mail.

- (b) If a full time employee is laid off for a period longer than two (2) years.
- (c) A casual employee has not worked for the City for more than one (1) year.
- (d) He is discharged for just cause.
- (e) He voluntarily terminates his employment with the City of Ouesnel.

## 14.05 Transfers and Seniority Outside the Bargaining Unit

No employee shall be transferred to a position outside the bargaining unit without his consent. If an employee accepts a position outside the bargaining unit, he shall retain his seniority acquired at the date of leaving the unit for a period of twelve months. If such an employee later returns to the bargaining unit after a period of twelve months has elapsed, his seniority will recommence from zero. Should an employee return to the unit before twelve months has elapsed, such return shall not result in the layoff or bumping of an employee holding greater seniority.

## ARTICLE 15 - PROMOTIONS AND JOB POSTINGS

## 15.01 Job Postings

When a vacancy of a permanent nature occurs or a new position is created inside the bargaining unit, the City shall notify the Union in writing and post notice of the position on all bulletin boards for a minimum of five (5) working days in order that all members will know about the position and be able to make written application therefore.

## 15.02 Information on Postings

Such notice shall contain the following information: nature of position, qualifications, rate of pay and date of posting. These qualifications may not be established in an arbitrary or discriminatory manner. The postings shall state "The City of Quesnel is an equal opportunity employer. We celebrate diversity and are committed to creating an inclusive environment for all employees."

#### 15.03 No Outside Advertising

No outside advertising for additional employees shall be made until present employees have had full opportunity to qualify, unless written agreement is reached with the Union. The Union agrees to expedite any such requests received from the Employer.

## 15.04 <u>Method of Making Appointments</u>

In making staff changes, transfers or promotions, appointment shall be made of the applicant with the greatest seniority having the required qualifications and ability, within a period of ten (10) working days of closing of job posting.

## **Public Works Department**

In the event that no internal candidate is deemed qualified the most senior applicant shall be considered for the vacant position, provided they have applied for training as per article 30.01 and training can be completed within two (2) weeks of competition closing.

#### 15.05 Trial Period

The successful applicant shall be placed on trial for a period of thirty (30) working days or forty five (45) calendar days, whichever is longer. Conditional on satisfactory service this trial promotion shall become permanent after the period of forty five (45) calendar days. Extensions of the trial period may be made by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union. In the event the successful applicant proves unsatisfactory in the position during the aforementioned trial period or if an employee finds himself unable to perform the duties of the new job classification, he shall be returned to his former position without loss of seniority and wage or salary. Any other employees promoted or transferred because of the re-arrangement of positions shall also return to their former positions without loss of seniority and wage or salary.

## 15.06 <u>Filling of Vacancies on a Temporary Basis</u>

A temporary vacancy shall be defined as a temporary vacancy period of more than forty-five (45) calendar days in duration. Date may be extended by mutual agreement. Temporary vacancies may be posted sooner for operational purposes, as determined by the employer.

Whenever a new or vacant position requires immediate filling, the City will select an employee taking into account seniority, qualifications and

employee preference to such opening. The City agrees such filling of position shall be deemed to be "pending posting" and shall be posted within 5 working days.

If a regular employee fills the temporary position, any associated vacancies created as a result do not require a job posting. The associated vacancy will be filled by seniority and qualifications from within the department. If there is no employee in the department who is qualified or willing to fill the vacancy, the vacancy may be filled by seniority and qualifications from another department. If there is no employee qualified or willing to fill the vacancy from another department, the employer may fill the vacancy with a casual employee.

Upon completion of the temporary vacancy period, all employees shall be returned to their former position(s) held prior. The aforementioned process will apply in filling non-posting vacancies of less than forty-five (45) days.

During the first five days of a temporary vacancy, if this results in a shift change for an employee, outside normal hours of work for Public Works, overtime rates will apply in accordance with Article 18.

If a regular employee fills the temporary position and is unable to complete the term they must provide two weeks' notice to their immediate supervisor.

#### 15.07 Union Notification

The Union shall be notified of all appointments, hirings, layoffs, transfers, recalls and terminations of employment.

## ARTICLE 16 - LAYOFF AND RECALL

# 16.01 Layoff and Rehiring Procedure

a) Both parties recognize that job security shall increase in proportion to the length of service and ability; therefore, in the event of layoff, the employees shall be laid off in the reverse order of their seniority within the job classification in the department affected. A seasonal employee within a job classification in the department will be laid off first, followed by part-time, regular part-time, or regular full-time employees in that job classification.

- b) Any regular full-time, regular part-time, or part-time employee laid off may bump a junior employee within the same department, providing the employee exercising the seniority right has the required qualifications and ability to perform the work. Any seasonal employee laid off may bump a junior seasonal employee within the department, providing the employee exercising the seniority right has the required qualifications and ability to perform the work.
- c) If the laid off employee is not qualified or able to bump within his/her department, the employee may then bump elsewhere in the bargaining unit in the organization, providing the employee has the qualifications and ability to perform the work. If a laid off seasonal employee is not qualified or able to bump within his/her department, the seasonal employee may then bump a junior seasonal employee elsewhere in the bargaining unit in the organization, providing the seasonal employee has the qualifications and ability to perform the work.
- d) A part-time <26 hours, seasonal, or casual employee cannot exercise their right to bump into a regular full-time position. An employee wishing to exercise their seniority under (b) and, or (c), must submit their request in writing to their immediate supervisor within five (5) working days of receiving the layoff notice. The written request shall include the request to bump and the position(s) to be bumped.
- e) Full time/Regular Part Time Workers:
  - Workers who hold a position that is classified as part-time over 26 hours per week will be considered a full time employee for bumping purposes only.
- f) Bumped or laid off employee(s) shall be entitled to regular layoff notice as per section 16.03 of the contract and will be entitled to exercise their right under paragraph (b) and (c).
- g) A laid off or bumped employee who has the required qualifications and ability to perform the work for the position they wish to bump into, shall receive a trial period as per Article 15.05.
- h) Article 16.03 does not apply to casual employees.
- i) Employees shall be recalled in the order of seniority PROVIDED that they have the qualifications and ability to perform the

available work.

If an employee is recalled to work, either from layoff status, or from a seasonal position in another department, and the employee refuses, Article 14 will be effective from the date the employee was recalled to work.

## 16.02 No New Employees

No new employees will be hired until those laid off have been given an opportunity of re-employment.

## 16.03 <u>Notice of Layoff</u>

An employee about to be laid off shall be given two (2) weeks' notice of layoff. An employee having completed three (3) years' service or more shall receive one (1) additional weeks' notice for each additional year of service to a maximum of eight (8) weeks.

#### ARTICLE 17 - HOURS OF WORK

17.01 Normal Working Time

#### a) Public Works

Normal working time shall be eight (8) hours per day between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. with one-half (1/2) hour off for lunch with the exception of the afternoon shift winter maintenance positions agreed to in the South Hills agreement and the sweeper /sand-truck as enumerated in Schedule "A" and shop operations. The hours of commencement shall be determined by mutual agreement. Any eight (8) hour shift is to be completed within nine (9) hours. The regular work week shall be Monday to Friday inclusive except for the year round utility weekend shift worker, and shall constitute forty (40) hours work in five (5) days except in the seven (7) day operations of the arena during winter schedule, sanitary landfill, and any other abnormal operation which may be negotiated and mutually agreed upon by the two parties.

Afternoon Shift winter maintenance workers shall work 4 p.m. to 12:30 a.m. Monday to Friday. The year round utility worker shall work Wednesday to Friday inclusive 8 hours per day between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. and Saturday and Sunday between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 2:30 p.m. with one half (1/2) hour for lunch.

## **Shop Operations**

Normal working hours for mechanical shop shall be scheduled up to ten (10) hours per day:

Eight (8) hour shifts between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., scheduled as per seniority and ten (10) hour shifts between the hours of 6:00am and 6:30pm, Monday through Sunday. Schedules will be dependent on operational requirements as determined by the Employer. Employees hired prior to January 1, 2021 in current mechanical positions where hours of work will remain Monday to Friday.

Employees hired into identified positions after June 8, 2005

Employees shall be required to work any five (5) consecutive days followed by two (2) consecutive days of rest, the first day of rest to be equivalent to Saturday and the second to Sunday. They shall be required to work any eight (8) consecutive hours between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 1:00 a.m. with one half (1/2) hour off for lunch. Shift differential shall be payable in accordance with Article 17.04.

For clarity, the above paragraph shall be restricted to vacancies that may result in the Public Works Equipment Operator classifications and shall only apply to winter snow plowing or sanding operations. (November 1 through March 31). This clause shall not apply when employees are forced to bump into the Public Works Equipment Operators classifications as a result of a layoff of a regular full time Public Works employee.

## b) City Hall

Normal working time for City Hall staff shall be seven (7) hours between the hours of 8:30 a.m. and 4:30 p.m.

## c) Bylaw Enforcement

Normal working time for Bylaw Enforcement staff shall be seven (7) hours per day between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m., Monday to Sunday. Shift differential shall apply, as per article 17.04.

# d) City Landfill

Normal Hours of Work

Normal working time shall be scheduled between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m., based on an 8 and/or 10 hour shift pattern, at the discretion of the City and shall be deemed Day Shifts, as per Article 17.04.

These times may be adjusted in future by the City of Quesnel to meet operational requirements and once the effectiveness of the new shift schedule has been determined. Amendments beyond the stated "Normal Hours of Work" will be mutually agreed upon by the City and Union.

## e) City Airport

Normal working time shall be between the hours of 6 a.m. to 9 p.m. Maintenance employees will be based on an eight (8) hour, and/or ten (10) hour shift pattern and the Airport & Transit Supervisor will be based on eight hours per day to a forty (40) hour workweek. Start and stop times may vary according to airport operational requirements with agreement between the Employer and Union.

## f) RCMP Guards

The Guards and Guard/Clerk 1 will work a twelve (12) hour shift schedule including four (4) days on duty and four (4) days off. The maximum number of hours to be worked during the two-week pay period is eighty (80) hours. The rate of pay shall be straight time for all hours worked, except overtime, statutory holidays and call out time pursuant to the Collective Agreement.

Guards and Guard/Clerk 1 will be required to eat their lunch while on duty. All Guards and Guard/Clerk 1 shall receive an additional forty-five (45) minutes straight time pay in lieu of no relief for meal breaks for a twelve (12) hour shift.

The regular work day shall be from Monday through Sunday in accordance with the following standard shifts: Dayshift: 6:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. (No shift differential for dayshift) Evening shift: 6:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m.

In order to improve the work-life balance for full time Guards, and so as to eliminate additional costs to the employer, it is agreed that cutoff for afternoon shift shall be on Friday of the scheduled week.

g) Other hours of work are found in the Schedules.

#### 17.02 Minimum Hours

An employee reporting for work on his regular shift shall be paid his regular rate of pay for two (2) hours if he does not commence work for any reason beyond his control and shall be paid for a minimum of four (4) hours if he commences work.

As of July 18, 2018, any new employees hired as Cashier/Receptionists shall be excluded from Article 17.02 "Minimum Hours of Work" and be subject to a two (2) hour minimum regular shift for work performed at the West Fraser Centre concession.

#### 17.03 Break Period

All employees shall be permitted a ten (10) minute rest period in both the first and second half of a shift.

## 17.04 Shift Differential

Any shift other than day shift as defined in Article 17 shall be paid at the rate of eighty cents (\$.80) per hour on the afternoon shift, and one dollar (\$1.00) per hour on night shift, over and above the rate for that classification. All arena shifts shall be rotated except where impossible to so do.

#### 17.05 Facilities Maintenance Workers 3

Facilities Maintenance Level 3 Workers will work a 10-hour shift schedule including four (4) days on duty and three (3) days off. The maximum number of hours to be worked during a two-week pay period is eighty (80) hours. The rate of pay shall be straight time for all hours worked, except overtime, statutory holidays and call out time pursuant to the Collective Agreement.

Should an employee be scheduled to work on a statutory holiday, the employee shall receive ten (10) hours pay at the appropriate overtime rate, in addition to the holiday pay to which the employee is entitled. Should the statutory holiday occur on a day off, the employee will receive the respective number of hours pay at straight time only, as per the regular shift pattern scheduled (i.e. eight (8) hours, or ten (10) hours, or twelve (12) hours.

## 17.06 Facilities Workers

- a) Both parties agree that the full time hours of work for Facilities Maintenance I workers shall be recognized as **forty (40)** hours per week. These hours will be scheduled to meet operational requirements at the various City facilities.
- b) Facilities Maintenance II Workers may be scheduled for a maximum of 84 hours in a pay period, with no entitlement to overtime pay for the additional four hours, provided that any additional scheduled shift does not exceed 10 hours. Employees will be entitled to overtime for any hours worked in excess of 10 hours per shift, or for hours in excess of 84 in any one pay period. Any hours scheduled between eighty (80) and eighty-four (84) shall be paid in the pay period immediately following the one in which the employee worked the additional hours. At no time shall regular hours average more than eighty (80) in a pay period.

# 17.07 Definition of A Day

Both Parties agree that for the purposes of interpreting the current collective agreement sections listed below, the definition of a "Day" will be based on either a 7/8 hour day, depending on if the employee is an inside worker working 1820 hours per year (35 hour work week), or an outside worker working 2080 hours per year (40 hour work week). This definition will apply, regardless of the shift pattern that an employee may work (e.g. 10 or 12 hour shift pattern) for Article 21 – Vacation Entitlement. Change to sick leave will be effective January 1, 2021.

## **ARTICLE 18 - OVERTIME**

18.01

For those employees who are willing and able to do the work, overtime shall be distributed on a seniority basis within the department, among the employees who normally perform the work. If no employee within that department is able and willing to work the overtime, the work shall be distributed according to the general seniority list. The list of Public Works departments for distribution of overtime is attached as below:

Those departments shall be:

- Utilities
- Mechanical
- Carpenters and Construction Labourers
- Gardeners
- Garbage Collection & Disposal

- Public Works Equipment Operators
- Engineer Technologist
- Public Works Clerk 1
- Labourers
- Cemetery

For departments not listed above, past practice will prevail.

If overtime cannot be filled from within the Public Works department the Employer may offer overtime to qualified employees outside the Public Works department. When employees are on standby they are not eligible for overtime in other departments.

- (a) All hours worked after eight (8) hours shall be considered overtime until a break of seven (7) hours occurs and shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1½) of the employee's hourly rate for the first three (3) hours immediately after the termination of the regular shift after which it shall be double time. However, the return to work immediately after a granted meal break does not constitute a "call-out".
- (b) Any employee called to court duty as a witness on pre-scheduled overtime, shall be paid a two (2) hour minimum at time and one-half (1½). Any employee called to attend pre-trial interviews for work related cases as noted on court paper shall be paid a two (2) hour minimum at time and one half (1½).
- All call-out overtime shall be paid at the rate of double time and shall be for a minimum of two (2) hours unless call-out is immediately preceding a regular shift, then the employee shall be paid double time only for the time worked prior to his shift.
- Call-out overtime prevails when an employee reports for and works overtime during a period of time not immediately following completion of his regular shift. For the purpose of this Agreement, call-out shall not be considered as a shift. All call-out starts at the time the employee arrives at work.
- All hours worked on a statutory, civic or proclaimed holiday shall be paid at the rate of double time in addition to the holiday pay to which the employee is entitled.

18.05 No layoff to compensate for overtime; employees shall not be required to lay off during regular hours to equalize any overtime work.

18.06 Employees whose work week is from Monday to Friday shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1½) for the first three (3) hours worked on Saturdays and double time thereafter, and double time for all hours worked on Sundays.

18.07 Employees whose work week is from Tuesday to Saturday shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1½) for the first three (3) hours worked on Sundays and double time thereafter, and double time for all hours worked on Mondays.

#### 18.08 Banked Overtime

For overtime worked, an employee upon request shall be given the option of choosing one of the following as disposition of overtime pay:

- (a) Employees will be able to request a banked overtime pay out at any time of the year, and the amount of banked overtime requested will be added to the employee's next electronic pay deposit. Banked overtime requests must be received by the same deadline as timecards are due for any particular payroll.
- (b) Bank time off work at the appropriate overtime rate.
- (c) Payment at straight time for half of the overtime worked and bank the balance owing to him.

Overtime banked in any year must be taken by April 30th of the following year. Any banked overtime not taken by April 30th will be paid out on the next payroll following April 30th. Banked overtime in excess of eight weeks shall be paid out.

All banked overtime must be taken at a time mutually agreeable between the Employer and the employee.

#### 18.09 Overtime Meal Allowance

An employee required to work four (4) hours overtime shall be provided with a meal allowance of Fifteen Dollars (\$15.00). The employee shall receive a meal allowance of Fifteen Dollars (\$15.00) for each subsequent consecutive four (4) hours or portion thereof.

#### ARTICLE 19 - STAND-BY PROVISIONS

19.01 Where employees are required to stand by to be called for duty under conditions which restrict their normal off-duty activities, they shall be compensated as follows:

- (a) Two (2) hours pay at his regular rate for each normal work day on which the employee was on stand-by and also worked his regular shift.
- (b) Three (3) hours pay at his regular rate for each day of rest or statutory holiday on which the employee was on stand-by.
- (c) Employees required to be on stand-by will have the option of banking the hours of this provision and taking them as time off.
- 19.02 If an employee on stand-by is called to work the provisions of Article 18.02 shall apply.

## 19.03 Airport Employees

Where the Employer requires an employee to be available on standby during off-duty hours, Article 19.01 shall apply.

#### ARTICLE 20 - STATUTORY HOLIDAYS

#### 20.01 List of Holidays

The City recognizes the following as paid holidays:

New Year's Day	Victoria Day	Thanksgiving Day
Family Day	Canada Day	Remembrance Day
Good Friday	B.C. Day	Christmas Day
Easter Monday	Labour Day	Boxing Day

and any other day proclaimed as a holiday by the federal, provincial or municipal governments.

## 20.02 <u>Holidays Falling on Days of Rest</u>

If a general holiday falls on a day that is a non-working day for an

employee, the employee shall be given a holiday with pay at some other time and not later than his next annual holidays or on termination of his employment, whichever first occurs.

# 20.03 Holidays During Vacation

If one of the above-mentioned holidays falls during an employee's annual vacation, he shall be granted an additional day's vacation for such holiday in addition to his regular vacation time.

## 20.04 Statutory Holidays

All employees to be entitled to pay for any one of the above-mentioned holidays, unless they run consecutively, shall be required to have begun work thirty (30) calendar days prior to such holiday and shall be required to work the full shift both prior to and following any of the statutory holidays enumerated above, except for absence occasioned by illness, compensation or authorized leave of absence.

#### ARTICLE 21 - VACATIONS

## 21.01 Length of Vacations

The scheduling and taking of vacations shall be on a calendar year basis. "Calendar year", for the purpose of this Agreement, shall mean the twelve (12) month period from January 1, to December 31 inclusive.

- (a) After one (1) year of continuous service, employees shall be granted three (3) weeks' vacation with pay and in each year thereafter, up to and including the fourth (4th) year, they shall be granted three (3) weeks' vacation with pay.
- (b) Upon completion of four (4) years of continuous service, all employees shall receive in addition to the provisions outlined in section (a) immediately preceding, one (1) additional day of vacation for each additional year of service up to a maximum of thirty six (36) days' vacation, in accordance with the following schedule:

<u>Years</u>	Working Days' Vacation With Pay
5	16
6	17

7	18
8	19
9	20
10	21
11	22
12	23
13	24
14	25
15	26
16	27
17	28
18	29
19	30
20	31
21	32
22	33
23	34
24	35
25 and over	36

(c) In the twentieth (20th) year of service, an employee shall be entitled to one (1) additional week of vacation to be taken in a one-week block in that year.

In the twenty-fifth (25th) year of service, an employee shall be entitled to one (1) additional week of vacation to be taken in a one-week block in that year. To be in effect January 1, 2023.

In the thirtieth (30<sup>th</sup>) year of service, an employee shall be entitled to one (1) additional week of vacation. This shall be considered "long service bonus", and upon the thirty-first (31<sup>st</sup>) year, the employee shall revert to the prior year's vacation entitlement.

(d) All vacation requests shall be submitted in writing to the employee's supervisor by April 1st of each year for vacation scheduling purposes. Vacation requests received on or before April 1st will be considered on a seniority basis, vacation requests received after April 1st will be on a first come, first serve basis.

The Employer will confirm the approval of vacation request dates for each employee, or discuss alternate dates with the

employee. Vacation schedules will be finalized on or before April 30th of each year. Approval/Denial of requests made after April 1st shall be made no later than five (5) working days after April 30th.

Time off requests for spring vacations prior to April 30th must be submitted by December 31st to be considered on a seniority basis. Approval/Denial of requests shall be made no later than ten (10) working days after December 31st. For all other times, (including January and February), the written request will be submitted at least fifteen (15) days prior to the vacation period and answered in writing no later than five (5) working days after such request is submitted.

A shorter time period will be considered if the request is agreeable with the Employer and does not prevent other employees from taking their approved vacation.

In the case of overlapping vacation requests, approval will be granted on a basis of seniority. Vacation schedules, once approved by the Employer, shall not be changed except by mutual agreement between employee and employer.

If an employee who has received approval for vacation then changes his employment position prior to taking the vacation time, the Employer may, if necessary for operational purposes, withdraw approval and rearrange the vacation at another time. This approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

# 21.02 <u>Seasonal and Part-Time Employees</u>

Employees terminating employment or employed on a seasonal basis, or a part-time basis who work less than twenty-six (26) hours per week as defined in Article 14.03, shall receive vacation pay proportionate to that received by employees with regular continuous service. Payment for the vacation entitlement shall be on a bi-weekly basis and will not be eligible for scheduled vacation days.

# Based on annual earnings:

1 - 5 years of service (6%) six percent vacation pay
5 -15 years of service (8%) eight percent vacation pay
Over 15 years of service (10%) ten percent vacation pay

A seasonal or part-time employee, who is awarded a regular full-time or regular part-time position, will accrue vacation on a pro-rated basis for those hours worked as a seasonal or part-time employee. This accrual will form part of the employee's annual vacation entitlement as a regular full-time or regular part-time employee.

If a seasonal employee is awarded a full-time or regular part-time position, the service as a seasonal employee will be deemed to be continuous provided there has been no break in service in excess of twelve (12) months.

# 21.03 Illness During Vacation

Sick leave may be substituted for vacation where it can be established by the employee that an illness or injury occurred while on vacation. A doctor's certificate may be requested.

#### 21.04 Deferred Vacation Entitlement

- (a) Each employee shall be entitled to bank a maximum of five (5) working days of vacation time for the purposes of vacation in the following year, upon written application to the Manager of Human Resources prior to November 30<sup>th</sup>.
- (b) As far as operationally feasible within the approval guidelines, the Employer will make every effort to ensure all employees are able to use their full vacation entitlement during the entitlement year.

# **ARTICLE 22 - SICK LEAVE**

22.01 Upon completion of their probationary period employees will be eligible to claim, eight (8) days for the calendar year.

Upon completion of their probationary period, seasonal employees will be eligible to claim four (4) days sick leave for the season upon which that employee is called to work. If such employees work beyond a six (6) month period in any one (1) year, they will accumulate additional sick leave on a prorated basis according to the hours worked.

Part time employees shall be eligible to claim sick leave prorated to their hours of work.

Employees being accepted on the weekly indemnity plan shall be paid their wages for the four (4) day waiting period. Once accepted on the wage indemnity plan, an employee's sick leave bank shall be reimbursed the four (4) day waiting period.

Each employee entitled to sick leave provisions can accumulate up to Sixteen (16) sick leave days in a bank for future use, In addition to current year's entitlement.

The employer shall bear the cost of any Employer required notes or certificates from medical professionals.

# 22.02 Dental Appointments

Employees requesting time off for a dental appointment shall be allowed time off with pay, which shall be deducted from sick leave in one-hour increments. Three (3) days notice is required, except in an emergency.

# 22.03 <u>Time Off for Medical Appointments</u>

Employees requesting time off for a bona fide medical examination appointment in town will be allowed time off with pay to a maximum of two (2) hours per visit, twice annually if required.

Employees will be permitted to use time from their sick bank if they are referred to a medical practitioner outside of Quesnel up to a maximum of two appointments per year. Proof of out of town appointment must be provided if requested by the employer.

The employee requesting time off for a medical examination appointment agrees to provide, wherever reasonably possible, advanced notice of the appointment date and time, to his/her immediate supervisor.

# 22.04 Family Responsibility Leave

Employees are eligible for up to five (5) days leave per year to meet the responsibilities related to the care, health and education of any member of the employee's immediate family as defined in the BC employment Standards Act, whether it is paid or unpaid.

Care and Health: Where no one at home other than the employee can

provide for the needs during an illness of a member of his/her immediate family an employee shall be entitled after notifying his/her supervisor to use either sick leave or unpaid leave. Medical evidence must be supplied when requested.

Education – this leave shall be granted in the form of unpaid leave to provide for the needs of a child in the employee's care.

#### ARTICLE 23 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE

### 23.01 Leave for Union Business

- (a) Where permission has been granted to representatives of the Union to leave their employment temporarily in order to carry on negotiations with the City or with respect to a grievance, they shall suffer no loss of pay for the time so spent. Such permission will not be unreasonably withheld.
- (b) When permission has been granted for employees to leave work to administer the affairs of the Union, the City shall continue to pay the employees their regular rate of pay, including benefits, and shall bill the Union for the amount of wages and benefits involved, excluding the Employer's share of such benefit premiums.
- (c) Requests for leave under (b) above shall be forwarded in writing to the Human Resources Manager for approval. The Union agrees to provide, wherever reasonably possible, at least two (2) weeks advanced notice, of the date(s) of such leave.

#### 23.02 Union Conventions

Leave of absence for a maximum of five (5) employees without pay and without loss of seniority shall be granted upon request to the City employees elected or appointed to represent the Union at conventions or seminars, provided that all five (5) employees are not from the same department, and subject to operational requirements, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. The Union agrees to provide, wherever reasonably possible, at least two (2) weeks advanced notice, of the dates of such leave, to the Human Resources Manager. The Union shall reimburse the City for those hours the employee is absent.

#### 23.03 Leave for Union and Public Duties

- (a) A limit of one (1) employee elected or selected for a full-time position with the Union or anybody with which the Union is affiliated, or who is elected to public office, shall be granted leave of absence without loss of seniority and without pay by the City for a period of up to one (1) year. Such leave may be renewed each year on request during *hisl her* term of office. A request must be in writing to the City Manager or designate, and when possible reasonable notice shall be given.
- (b) Leave without pay shall be granted during regular working hours for employees who are publicly-elected officials to perform the duties of their office. The request must be in writing to the City Manager or designate, and when possible reasonable notice shall be given.

# 23.04 Bereavement Leave

- (a) An employee shall be granted upon request, three (3) regularly scheduled consecutive working days leave without loss of salary or wage in the case of the death of the parent (including stepparents), mother-in-law, father-in-law, guardian, spouse, fiancé, brother, step-brother, brother-in-law, sister, step-sister, sister-in-law, child, or ward, step-child, grandparent, grandchild, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, Uncle or Aunt.
- (b) A minimum of two (2) days with pay shall be provided if required for travel that is in excess of two hundred and fifty (250) kilometres from the City limits.
- (c) If an employee is not eligible under 23.04 a) then bereavement leave of two (2) regularly scheduled consecutive working days without loss of salary shall be granted to attend the funeral of a relative with whom the employee has held a long term close relationship.
- (d) Total Bereavement leave within this article must not exceed one full week's wages.
- (e) Employees may apply for additional bereavement leave without pay when circumstances warrant.

# 23.05 <u>Compassionate</u> Leave

- a) An employee shall be granted upon request, three (3) regularly scheduled consecutive working days without loss of salary or wage in the case of serious illness of a parent, spouse, child or ward. Medical evidence must be provided when requested. Serious Illness shall be defined as unexpected hospitalization or confirmed by a physician as serious in nature.
- b) A minimum of two (2) days with pay shall be provided if required for travel that is in excess of two hundred and fifty (250) kilometres from the City limits.
- c) Total compassionate leave within this article must not exceed one full week's wages.
- d) Employees may apply for additional compassionate leave without pay when circumstances warrant.

# 23.06 Mourner's Leave

- (a) One full days leave shall be granted without loss of salary or wages to attend a funeral for a parent, spouse, child or ward.
- (b) Four (4) hours' leave shall be granted without loss of salary or wages to attend a funeral as a mourner in Quesnel.
- (c) One full day leave shall be granted without loss of salary or wages to attend a funeral as a pallbearer or as a mourner out of town.

Provided that an employee shall give at least one (1) days' notice to the City.

# 23.07 Jury Duty

In the event of an employee being required to serve on a jury or being called for jury duty, or being subpoenaed as a witness, such employee shall continue to receive his or her regular pay for all regular work days that attendance is required.

For employees whose regular work week includes shifts scheduled on a Saturday or Sunday, such employees will receive pay equivalent to their normal weekly hours of work provided only that attendance is required by the Court on their normal day(s) of rest. If such attendance is not required, then they will be expected to work their normal scheduled weekend shift.

The above provisions apply PROVIDED THAT such employee shall turn

over to the City immediately, or cause to be turned over to the City immediately, any allowance received for serving on such jury or acting as such witness, but not including legitimate travel, food or lodging expenses incurred when travelling outside of Quesnel.

# 23.08 Education Leave

Leave of absence with pay and without loss of seniority shall be granted to allow an employee time to write examinations to improve qualifications in the service of the Employer.

# 23.09 General Leave

The City shall grant leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority to any employee requesting such leave for good and sufficient cause under the following terms:

A request for leave of absence without pay will only be considered if an employee has totally exhausted all vacation leave and any banked overtime.

Seniority shall not accumulate during leaves of absence in excess of three (3) consecutive months.

Requests for one (1) week or less:

1. Such request to be made in writing to Department Manager for consideration, and is subject to operational requirements.

# Requests for more than one (1) week:

- Requests for a leave of absence without pay for more than one week must be submitted in writing to the City Manager, at least sixty (60) calendar days in advance, stating the reason for leave and the time off requested. The City Manager may consider the request if the leave is requested less than sixty (60) calendar days in advance due to extenuating circumstances.
- 2. Employees on an approved Education Leave shall continue to accrue seniority up to one year providing it is in the service of the employer.
- 3. Sick leave or vacation entitlement shall not accumulate once an employee has been on an approved leave of absence for greater than one (1) month.
- 4. Benefits provided by the City will be suspended after three (3) months of

a leave of absence unless the employee elects to continue such benefits by paying both the employee's and the City's portion of the premiums. An employee granted a general leave of absence shall have the option of purchasing the following benefits during the leave, subject to approval of the Insurance Carrier: MSP, EHB, Dental, life insurance for leaves greater than three (3) months.

- 5. Any employee wishing to continue benefit coverage during the leave of absence will be required to prepay monthly (employee and employer portions) as per the current premium rates. Payments must be made in advance or benefits will be cancelled.
- 6. Approved leaves shall not be considered as time past when dealing with a request for removal of disciplinary action on the employee's personnel file.
- 7. If the employee granted a leave does not return to work at the expiry of the leave date, or obtain further approval from the City Manager, the Employer will consider the employee to have resigned or abandoned the position.

Both parties acknowledge the principles for a general leave of absence as identified above, and as such agree, that a general leave of absence will not be granted for the purposes of obtaining employment with another employer.

# 23.10 Maternity/Paternity Leave

Maternity leave shall be granted in accordance with the provisions of the Employment Standards Act.

#### 23.11 Donor Leave

- a) An employee shall be granted the necessary leave of absence for the purpose of donating bone marrow or an organ under the Living Organ Donor Program. Such leave shall include up to five (5) consecutive paid days and additional leave without pay, as required. Medical evidence must be provided to employer prior to leave.
- b) Total Donor leave within this article must not exceed one full week's wages.

#### ARTICLE 24 - PAYMENT OF WAGES AND ALLOWANCES

# 24.01 Pay During Temporary Transfer

When an employee is requested by the Employer to substitute

temporarily on any job, he shall receive the rate for the job or his regular rate, whichever is the greater.

# 24.02 Premium – Refrigeration Safety Awareness (RSA)

Facility Maintenance Worker I's and II's who have successfully completed the Refrigeration Safety Awareness (RSA) certification will receive a premium of .45 per hour whenever they are working in the arena facilities during the ice season when the refrigeration plant is in operation.

# 24.03 Premium – Ice Facility Operator (IFO)

Facility Maintenance Worker I's and II's who have successfully completed the Ice Facility Operator (IFO) certification will receive a premium of .70 per hour whenever they are working in the arena facilities during the ice season when the refrigeration plant is in operation. The IFO premium supersedes the RSA premium and those employees holding both certifications will only be eligible to receive the one premium.

# **ARTICLE 25 - JOB SECURITY**

# 25.01 <u>Job Security</u>

The City has the right, subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, to decide how and by whom any work is to be performed. However, in the exercise of this right, the City will not contract work out that results directly in the layoff of any employee from the bargaining unit.

In order to provide job security for the members of the bargaining unit, the City agrees with the principle that wherever possible and practical work or services normally performed by the employees shall not be contracted out or transferred to a third party subject to the following quidelines:

- (a) The relative cost of providing such services is demonstrated to be the same or less than an outside contractor.
- (b) The work can be performed by Bargaining Unit Employees who are qualified and available to perform the work.
- (c) Appropriate equipment within the City fleet required to perform the work is available.

It is understood that contracting out can take place to provide services to the community where the Employer has utilized appropriate Equipment in the City fleet and operators to the fullest extent possible. Private equipment will not be hired when the regular employees (including employees on layoff) and the City equipment are available to perform the work required by the Employer.

"Definition of Available": If an employee is offered the work, and accepts, whether it is considered as regular time, or overtime they shall be deemed to be considered "available".

The parties agree to form a Job Security Committee to discuss and attempt to resolve issues of contracting out and volunteers.

#### **ARTICLE 26 - BENEFITS**

#### 26.01 Benefits

The City shall provide and pay ninety-five percent (95%) of the premium cost of the following insurance benefits:

- (a) Life insurance to an amount equal to double (2x) the employee's earnings to a maximum of two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000)
- (b) Accidental death and dismemberment benefits to a principal amount equivalent to life insurance.
- (c) Weekly income benefits at seventy-five (75%) percent of regular wages to a maximum of Seven Hundred Dollars (\$700) per week commencing on the first day for accident and the fourth day of illness for a maximum benefit period of twenty-six (26) weeks.
- (d) Dental benefits equivalent to MSA Plans as follows:

Plan A - 100%

Plan B - 80%

Plan C - 100%, to a lifetime maximum of five thousand dollars (\$5000).

(e) Extended health benefits to include Vision care to a maximum of Six Hundred Dollars (\$600) at 100% coverage per twenty-four month period, including laser eye surgery.

- i) Employee(s) purchasing a hearing aid, shall be provided coverage to a maximum payable of one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1500) at 100% coverage per a twenty-four (24) month period. If the health and welfare plan does not provide this coverage, the Employer will reimburse the employee, upon submission of the receipt, the balance up to a maximum of one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1500) in the form of a general payment.
- ii) Eye care examinations for adults only up to one hundred and thirty five dollars (\$135) per twenty-four month period.
- iii) One hundred percent (100%) coverage of chiropractor, massage therapy, physiotherapy and acupuncture up to a maximum of Seven Hundred and Fifty Dollars (\$750) annually.
- (f) Provincial Medical Services Plan.
- (g) BLUE NET CARD: with 80% coverage
- (h) Benefits while on WCB: the Employee shall continue to receive all benefits and shall continue to accrue seniority and vacation credit entitlements while on Workers Compensation benefits. Maximum vacation accrual while on WCB benefits shall be limited to one year's entitlement.
- The City shall provide long-term disability income benefits at sixty-five percent (65%) of regular wages to a maximum of two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2500) per month commencing after 26 weeks of disability to age sixty-five (65), and the employee shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of the premium costs.
- 26.03 Provision of the above benefits is subject to the City as policy holder obtaining a reputable underwriter; to any and all conditions imposed by such underwriter regarding individual insurability, pre-existing conditions, definitions of disability and detailed specification of benefits; to time delays associated with securing an underwriter; and the accrual of any and all reductions in employee payroll deductions for statutory benefits, resulting from the introduction of the foregoing benefits, to the City.
- The Employer shall investigate on the employee's behalf any unreasonable delay in payment of insurance benefits.

### 26.05 Benefit Underwriters

The City and the Union agree to discuss and change underwriters of the benefits package if either the UBCM plan or the CUPE benefits trust can provide the present or improved benefits at a competitive cost. Each underwriter will be consulted and any changes will be made only by mutual agreement between the parties.

# 26.06 Benefit Continuance

After an employee completes the first year of employment and is absent from work due to layoff, illness or accident, the benefits set forth in 26.01, except 26.01(c) and 26.01(h), shall be maintained for a period up to a maximum of six (6) months and thereafter the employee must make arrangements with the Employer to continue group coverage up to an additional six (6) months if the plan permits, at the employee's expense. Laid off employees who are employed full-time with another employer shall not be eligible for the Employer's share of the cost. Employees in their first year of service may elect to continue benefit coverage at the employee's cost, if the plan permits, for a period up to a maximum of twelve (12) months.

No new employees hired into seasonal positions after June 8, 2005 will be eligible for benefits while on layoff.

### 26.07 Part-time and Casual Benefits

All part-time and casual employees shall receive an additional one dollar and twenty cents (\$1.20) per hour of their total earnings in lieu of benefits.

# 26.08 Employee and Family Assistance Program

The Employer shall provide an EFAP which is suitable to the Union. The premium shall be borne one hundred percent (100%) by the Employer.

#### 26.09 Medical Travel Plan

The City agrees to establish a travel fund, for the purpose of providing interest free loans to employees up to a maximum of \$1,000 for medical travel purposes. All terms and conditions of this loan shall be clearly set out in the Policy, and approved by the **Director of Corporate & Financial** 

Services.

#### ARTICLE 27 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

# 27.01 Union/Employer Health and Safety Committee

A Health and Safety Committee shall be established which is composed of an equal number of Union and Employer representatives, but with a minimum of two Union and two Employer members. The Health and Safety Committee shall hold meetings as requested by the Union or by the Employer for jointly considering, monitoring, inspecting, investigating, and reviewing health and safety conditions and practices and to improve existing health and safety conditions and practices. Minutes shall be taken of all meetings and copies shall be sent to the Employer and the Union and posted in all worksites.

# 27.02 Health and Safety Committee Pay Provisions

Time spent by members of the Committee in the course of their duties shall be considered as time worked and shall be paid for in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.

# 27.03 Injury Pay Provisions

An employee who is injured during working hours, and is required to leave for treatment or is sent home as a result of such injury, shall receive payment for the remainder of the shift at his/her regular rate of pay without deduction from sick leave, unless a doctor or nurse states that the employee is fit for further work on that shift.

# 27.04 Right to Refuse

Employees shall have the right to refuse unsafe work pursuant to Section 3.12 of the Occupational Health and Safety Regulations.

#### 27.05 Industrial First Aid Premium

a) Designated employees possessing an Occupational First Aid certificate shall receive two dollars (\$2.00) per hour provided they hold and maintain a minimum of a current Occupational First Aid Level III certificate. All other employees holding a valid Occupational First Aid Level III certification shall receive fifty cents (\$.50) per hour in addition to their regular wages. The City will require these employees to act as designated First Aid Attendants as required.

- b) In order to maintain the currency of their tickets, the Employer shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of the certification for those employees formally designated and who are successful in obtaining an Occupational First Aid Level III certificate, and provide paid leave to attend the course, to a maximum of three (3) attendants. Additional attendants designated shall receive reimbursement for the cost of their certification. For Employer paid (re)certification employees will be obligated to fulfil the certification term or repay any associated costs.
- c) In selecting First Aid Attendants and their back-up, in addition to qualifications, ability, and seniority, the following criteria shall be considered:
  - i) Whether the employee's other work is such that he/she will be able to promptly render first-aid in a clean and sanitary condition; and
  - ii) Whether his/her other work is such that he/she will not be prevented from seeing or hearing any summons from the job site indicating that his/her services are required.

# 27.06 Working Alone

No employee shall be required to work alone on night shift unless suitable precautionary measures have been taken, as per Worksafe BC guidelines.

#### 27.07 Immunization

Immunization for hepatitis A and B shall be provided by the Employer at the employee's option where there is a risk of work-related infection, until such time as this immunization is provided by a medical plan.

# 27.08 Flagging Premium

While performing flagging duties, those employees who hold a valid flagging ticket will receive a premium of sixty cents (\$0.60) per hour. The Employer is responsible for the training of staff required for flagging.

#### **ARTICLE 28 - GENERAL CONDITIONS**

### 28.01 Accommodations

Accommodations shall be provided for employees to have their meals and keep their clothes as they are presently located.

The following shall be provided:

(a) Lockers (b) Washroom (c) Lunchroom

#### 28.02 Bulletin Boards

The City shall provide bulletin boards upon which the Union shall have the right to post notices of meetings and such other notices as may be of interest to the employees. Such bulletin boards shall be placed in prominent places for all employees to see.

#### 28.03 Fire Insurance

The City shall provide fire insurance covering the tools owned by employees and used in the performance of their duties with the City. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to provide the City with a complete and current list together with the value of all tools owned by them and kept on the City's premises.

# 28.04 Protective Clothing

- (a) The City agrees to provide coveralls for sanitation crews, mechanics, and RCMP custodians. The City will also supply rain gear for all outside employees. Cost of laundering or cleaning shall be paid for by the City.
- (b) The City agrees to keep a supply of coveralls and gloves available for use of the employees on hazardous or general dirty duties. The Receiver will be responsible for the distribution of these coveralls and gloves.
- (c) Employees will be required to show evidence of the return of the coveralls, gloves and rain gear upon completion of the specific job.
- (d) The Employer shall supply each new full-time Guard four (4) shirts and two (2) pairs of pants. Each following year the Employer

shall supply two (2) shirts and one (1) pair of pants.

### (e) Work Boots

Effective January 1, 2021, the Employer shall provide up to one hundred and twenty five dollars (\$125) per year reimbursement upon receipt for the cost of protective work boots for casual, part-time, seasonal, and temporary employees and two hundred dollars (\$200) for full-time employees requiring boots under Worksafe BC. The allotted amount per year for employees is applied to one pair of boots per calendar year. Work boots which are destroyed in the course of duties shall be replaced at the Employer's expense. If an employee does not purchase a pair of boots in a calendar year, they can carry over the boot allowance to the following calendar year and may purchase up to two pairs of boots.

# (f) Bylaw Officer Uniforms

The Employer shall provide each new full time bylaw officer with four (4) shirts, two (2) pairs of pants, one (1) winter coat and a safety protective vest, one duty belt including the inner and outer portions. Each following year the Employer shall supply two (2) shirts and two (2) pairs of pants and one inner duty belt. Bicycle shorts and helmets will be provided in accordance with Worksafe BC safety requirements. The outer duty belt and vests will be replaced as needed.

# 28.05 Job-Related Liability Protection

Should legal proceedings be taken against an employee as a result of his employment with the Employer, he will be reimbursed by the Employer for legal expenses incurred in his defence against such proceedings and shall suffer no loss of pay for time so spent.

#### 28.06 Wellness Pass

Employees actively at work shall receive upon request a ten (10) visit pass to the arena or recreation centre a maximum of eight (8) times per year on a cost share basis (50% Employer paid). The pass may be used by the employee or their immediate family members. Upon request, employees may credit the value of the eight (8) passes per year towards the purchase of an annual pass.

# ARTICLE 29 - PENSIONS

# 29.01 Pensions

The City is required by statute to provide pension coverage through the Pension (Municipal) Act, Chap. 317.

# ARTICLE 30 - TRAINING PROGRAMME - Public Works

30.01

Upon application in writing to the Director of Public Works Operations, the City agrees to select suitable employees subject to Article 15.04 for supervised training when time permits. While being trained and until such time as these trainees are certified by the Director of Public Works Operations as being qualified, their hourly rate of pay will remain as the rate paid upon selection as trainees and upon qualification may be reclassified, subject to vacancy. When an employee is posted to a vacant position which requires training, a thirty (30) working day or fortyfive (45) calendar trial period pursuant to Article 15.05, shall be considered as a training period. The training period may be extended by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union. Any training shall be accrued in one-half (1/2) day increments. Approved training requests are valid for twelve (12) months and if training has not commenced during the approved year then the employee will be required to reapply. Whenever possible training will be completed within twelve (12) months following approval.

#### ARTICLE 31 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

Where the City contemplates the introduction of technological change that:

- (a) affects the terms and conditions, or security, of employment of a significant number of employees to whom the Collective Agreement applies; and
- (b) alters significantly the basis upon which the Agreement was negotiated:
  - (i) the Union shall be given ninety (90) days' notice of such contemplated technological change;

- (ii) the parties shall meet within the ninety (90) days to decide such matters as retraining, transfer, layoff, termination, severance pay, rates of pay and classifications;
- (iii) failing agreement, issues remaining in dispute may be referred to arbitration under Article 12 for final resolution including the words "significant number of workers";
- (iv) the Employer shall make all reasonable efforts to retrain employees affected by the technological change. There shall be no reduction in wages during such training. Training shall be performed at the Employer's expense, however, any voluntary upgrading shall be at the employee's expense.

#### ARTICLE 32 - STUDENT EMPLOYEES

- Recognizing the temporary nature of certain work required to be done intermittently for the operation of the City, the City may hire students to carry out casual work from time to time.
- 32.02 Such work is to be paid for at an agreed-upon rate of pay and at no time shall a person carrying out such temporary or casual work displaces a permanent employee. The Union agrees not to unreasonably withhold permission to hire students or special needs persons, and further agrees to expedite any such requests received from the Employer.
- 32.03 Student work-experience program in Public Works during summer months.

A student employee shall be defined as an individual who is enrolled full time in either a secondary or post-secondary institution in the fall semester immediately following the employment period defined in this article. Age restrictions may be applied as per government grant funding requirements.

Duties: litter pickup, sweeping, mowing and weed eating to help with the city's beautification during summer months (April 15 until August 31) Summer Students shall not operate equipment with the exception of hand operated power equipment. There shall be no more than four (4) students employed at any time as per employer discretion.

Regular Employees shall not be displaced due to the use of student employees and shall be recalled prior to Student Employees being hired and Students shall be the first positions to be eliminated in the event of layoffs. For the purpose of Article 32.03 displaced shall include Seasonal Employees who are not recalled or returning.

If a student is hired in consecutive years the pay rate shall be as follows:

Year 1 70% of Labourer wage

Year 2 75% of Labourer wage

Year 3 80% of Labourer wage

Term not to exceed three (3) years

#### ARTICLE 33 - SEVERANCE PAY

The parties agree that should layoffs occur, employees about to be laid off may elect to accept termination compensation based on the following:

- (a) two (2) weeks' pay where the employee has completed a period of employment of at least six (6) consecutive months;
- (b) after completion of a period of employment of three (3) consecutive years, one (1) additional week's pay for each subsequent completed year of employment;
- (c) an employee choosing severance pay must do so within thirty (30) days;
- (d) an employee may elect instead of receiving severance pay, to be placed on a recall list for a period of twenty four (24) months. At the expiry of the twenty four (24) month period, employees who have not been recalled shall not be eligible for the above compensation;
- (e) employees terminated as a disciplinary measure shall not be entitled to the above compensation.

# ARTICLE 34 - TERM OF AGREEMENT

34.01

This Agreement shall be in effect from June 8, 2020 until June 7, 2024, and subject to the provisions hereinafter contained for termination of this Agreement, may continue in full force and effect thereafter from year to year. Either party to this Agreement within four (4) months immediately preceding the expiration of this Agreement, may by notice in writing notify the other party to this Agreement that the party giving such notice desires to change, alter or modify any of the provisions of this Agreement and to commence collective bargaining. In the event that neither party to this Agreement gives notice, then this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect from year to year thereafter until such time as either party thereto gives notice as aforesaid to the other party.

34.02

The Employer shall print and provide sufficient copies of the Agreement to existing and future employees as soon as possible after ratification. Agreed upon costs associated with making copies will be shared equally between the Employer and Union. Terms and layout of copies to be agreed upon by both parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement

this 24 day of November, 2020.

The Corporate Seal of the CITY OF QUESNEL was hereunto affixed in the presence of:

SIGNED on behalf of the CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, Local 1050, by:

K2011-

City Administrator

Mayor

President

Secretary:

SCHEDULE 'A'
Outside Employees, Airport Employees
Classification and Hourly Wage Rates

Job Classification	June 8/20 1.5%	June 8/21 2%	June 8/22 2%	June 8/23 2%						
Public Works Receptionist (Clerk 1)	\$29.94	\$30.54	\$31.15	\$31.77						
Labourer	\$29.45	\$30.04	\$30.64	\$31.25						
Construction Labourer	\$30.10	\$30.70	\$31.31	\$31.94						
Cemetary Caretaker	\$30.10	\$30.70	\$31.31	\$31.94						
Head Gardener	\$30.98	\$31.60	\$32.23	\$32.87						
Gardener/Labourer	\$30.40	\$31.01	\$31.63	\$32.26						
Irrigation Systems Worker /Labourer	\$30.40	\$31.01	\$31.63	\$32.26						
Parksman/Labourer (seasonal)	\$29.99	\$30.59	\$31.20	\$31.82						
Landfill Attendant	\$29.94	\$30.54	\$31.15	\$31.77						
Landfill Attendant Operator	\$32.91	\$33.57	\$34.24	\$34.92						
Pipe Layer I	\$30.27	\$30.88	\$31.50	\$32.13						
Pipe Layer II	\$31.45	\$32.08	\$32.72	\$33.37						
Equipment Operator I	\$32.91	\$33.57	\$34.24	\$34.92						
Grader Operator, Sander/Sweeper Operator,										
Utility Worker Operator, Landfill Equipment Operator										
Backhoe Operator, Loader Operator										
Equipment Operator II	\$31.45	\$32.08	\$32.72	\$33.37						
Gravel Truck, Sucker Truck										
Hiab Truck, Residential Garbage										
Equipment Operator III	\$30.10	\$30.70	\$31.31	\$31.94						
Industrial Mowers, Forklift										
Tractors, Skidsteer										
Trades Helper – Carpentry	\$31.73	\$32.36	\$33.01	\$33.67						
Airport & Transit Supervisor	\$38.97	\$39.75	\$40.55	\$41.36						
Airport Maintenance Specialist	\$32.91	\$33.57	\$34.24	\$34.92						
Utilities Pumping Station Operator	\$33.30	\$33.97	\$34.65	\$35.34						
Engineering Technologist	\$36.96	\$37.70	\$38.45	\$39.22						
Sub-Foreman	\$34.23	\$34.91	\$35.61	\$36.32						
Tradesman	\$36.80	\$37.54	\$38.29	\$39.06						
Foreman	\$36.17	\$36.89	\$37.63	\$38.38						
Shop Supervisor	\$40.34	\$41.15	\$41.97	\$42.81						

A Charge-hand is designated by the Employer and shall receive one dollar (\$1.00) per hour in addition to his/her applicable hourly rate.

A Trainer is assigned by the Employer to work side by side with an employee for a minimum of four (4) hours per day. A Trainer shall receive one dollar (\$1.00) per hour in addition to his/her applicable hourly rate. Foremen, Sub-Foremen and Charge Hands are exempt from training wage.

The hours of work of the Sweeper Operator may commence at 4.00 a.m. and end at 1.00 p.m. provided that the Sweeper Operator is paid the differential rate applicable to a night shift.

SCHEDULE 'B'
RCMP, Arena and Museum Employees
Classification and Hourly Rates

Job Classification	June 8/20	June 8/21	June 8/22	June 8/23
	1.5%	2%	2%	2%
Community Policing & Bylaw Supervisor	\$38.97	\$39.75	\$40.55	\$41.36
Bylaw Enforcement Officer	\$31.93	\$32.57	\$33.22	\$33.88
Victim Service Support Worker	\$29.94	\$30.54	\$31.15	\$31.77
Victim Service Program Coordinator (Clerk IV)	\$34.13	\$34.81	\$35.51	\$36.22
RCMP - Guard/Clerk I	\$29.77	\$30.37	\$30.98	\$31.60
RCMP - Guard	\$29.58	\$30.17	\$30.77	\$31.39
RCMP Front Counter Clerk/Complaint Taker/PIC	\$31.86	\$32.50	\$33.15	\$33.81
RCMP CPIC Clerk	\$31.86	\$32.50	\$33.15	\$33.81
RCMP Records Reviewer	\$31.86	\$32.50	\$33.15	\$33.81
RCMP - Steno (Clerk I)	\$29.94	\$30.54	\$31.15	\$31.77
RCMP - Steno (Clerk II)	\$30.89	\$31.51	\$32.14	\$32.78
RCMP - Clerk/Exhibit Custodian (Clerk III)	\$32.96	\$33.62	\$34.29	\$34.98
RCMP Records Supervisor/Prime Coordinator	\$34.13	\$34.81	\$35.51	\$36.22
Arena Concession:				
Cashier/Receptionist	\$21.88	\$22.32	\$22.77	\$23.23
Recreation Services Clerk	\$28.20	\$28.76	\$29.34	\$29.93
Facility Maintenance Worker I	\$25.12	\$25.62	\$26.13	\$26.65
Facility Maintenance Worker II	\$31.07	\$31.69	\$32.32	\$32.97
Facility Maintenance Worker III	\$32.91	\$33.57	\$34.24	\$34.92
Facilities Maintenance Foreman	\$37.95	\$38.71	\$39.48	\$40.27
Museum Assistant	\$24.32	\$24.81	\$25.31	\$25.82

# 1. Museum Workers

Their work day shall be flexible and scheduled between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m. The work week shall be Sunday to Saturday inclusive.

The following Articles of the Collective Agreement shall not apply to Museum employees:

Article 17 – Hours of Work

Article 18 - Overtime

Article 19 - Stand-by Provisions

# 2. Hours of Work - RCMP Employees

# RCMP Office Support Staff

The regular working day for RCMP Office Support Staff shall consist of eight (8) hours per day with one half (1/2) hour off for lunch. The regular work week shall consist of forty (40) hours work in five (5) consecutive days.

3. RCMP employees shall be entitled to Article 17.04 Shift Differential.

### 4. Victim Services

The hours of work for Victim Service Program and Victim Service/Community Policing Support Worker, because of the nature of the work are flexible and shall be mutually agreed between the Program Coordinator and the Staff Sergeant and/or designate.

Both parties recognize the need to have a flexible work schedule to meet the demands and needs of the Victim Service Program which is a twenty-four (24) hour service delivery, as resources permit, to the community. Employees classified as Coordinator Victim Witness Services and Victim Service Support Worker may work any forty (40) hours from Sunday to Saturday, exclusive or an unpaid one hour meal break. The work schedule mutually agreed to between the Coordinator and the Supervisor is an attempt to maximize the funding allocation received from the Attorney General and meet the service program needs until the program funding ends. The employee and the supervisor shall agree on the individual work schedule within the above range, and where there is disagreement, the supervisor shall make the decision. Volunteers may be utilized to supplement the program needs as a condition of receiving the Attorney General funding. The maximum hours of work for the Victim Service Program shall be forty (40) paid hours per week.

If a callout occurs for the regular full-time Victim Service Program Coordinator, the RCMP Staff Sergeant, or his designate, shall authorize the callout. The remuneration for the callout shall be taken at a rate of  $1\frac{1}{2}$  straight time, and taken as time off in lieu as approved by the supervisor. Casual employees shall not be eligible for callout provisions.

- 5. Article 19 Standby Provisions of the Collective Agreement shall not apply to:
  - (a) RCMP Employees
  - (b) Victim Services Employees
  - (c) Community Policing Employees

# SCHEDULE "C"

# City Hall Employees Classification and Hourly Wage Rates

Job Classification	June 8/20	June 8/21	June 8/22	June 8/23
	1.5%	2%	2%	2%
Supervisor of Financial Services	\$38.97	\$39.75	\$40.55	\$41.36
Supervisor of Financial Services II	\$40.11	\$40.91	\$41.73	\$42.56
Junior Accountant	\$36.96	\$37.70	\$38.45	\$39.22
Service Rep/Clerk I	\$29.94	\$30.54	\$31.15	\$31.77
Accounting Clerk II	\$30.89	\$31.51	\$32.14	\$32.78
Communications Clerk III	\$32.96	\$33.62	\$34.29	\$34.98
Development Services Clerk (Clerk II)	\$30.89	\$31.51	\$32.14	\$32.78
Payroll Clerk (Clerk III)	\$32.96	\$33.62	\$34.29	\$34.98
Senior Accounting Clerk (Clerk IV)	\$34.13	\$34.81	\$35.51	\$36.22
Computer Support Specialist	\$36.96	\$37.70	\$38.45	\$39.22
Purchaser	\$36.96	\$37.70	\$38.45	\$39.22
Receiver	\$31.82	\$32.46	\$33.11	\$33.77
City Planner	\$37.41	\$38.16	\$38.92	\$39.70
Planning Technician	\$34.73	\$35.42	\$36.13	\$36.85
Building Inspection Clerk	\$30.89	\$31.51	\$32.14	\$32.78
Building Inspector Level I	\$37.11	\$37.85	\$38.61	\$39.38
Building Inspector Level II	\$37.99	\$38.75	\$39.53	\$40.32
Senior Building Inspector Level II	\$40.69	\$41.50	\$42.33	\$43.18
Senior Building Inspector Level III	\$41.83	\$42.67	\$43.52	\$44.39

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING No. 1 BETWEEN CITY OF QUESNEL AND CUPE LOCAL 1050

#### RE: ARTICLE 17.01 - NORMAL WORKING TIME

The parties are committed to the possible implementation of a ten (10) hour shift pattern for various positions of the City of Quesnel. The parties agree that such discussion shall take place between the parties as quickly as possible.

The parties agree that the principles guiding the ten (10) hour shift pattern shall be that no added cost or coverage shall occur for the Employer, and no loss of salary or benefits shall occur for the employee(s).

The parties agree to develop a working model to determine if the principles can be met. In the event the model can be developed, a six (6) month trial period would be implemented to determine the effectiveness of the new shift schedule.

Signed on Behalf of CITY OF QUESNEL Signed on Behalf of CUPE LOCAL 1050

DATE Signed by both parties

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING No. 2 BETWEEN CITY OF QUESNEL AND CUPE LOCAL 1050

Re: Part-time Positions

The parties agree that wherever possible part-time positions will be combined to create full-time positions in the bargaining unit.

The parties agree to joint discussions to implement the above provision.

Signed on Behalf of Signed on Behalf of CITY OF QUESNEL CUPE LOCAL 1050

DATE Signed by both parties

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING No. 4 BETWEEN CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 1050 AND CITY OF QUESNEL

Re: Job Security and Operational Flexibility

It is the City's intention with the various boundary expansions and growth of the City, to provide operations, which are cost effective, and of value to the taxpayer. As a result, certain operations will provide services that are twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week. Specifically, to implement a rotational shift pattern which includes evenings, and weekends for certain areas of the operation.

It is the Union's intention to provide job security for their members to continue to perform the work that is being provided by the City today. Also, to be a successor to any new services which the City may consider providing.

The Union and the City agree to enter into a joint partnership to discuss any services that may result from the boundary expansions, or upon expiry of any existing contracts or reductions of provincial grants or any new services which the City may consider providing.

Both parties acknowledge that in order for the City to consider providing services to these new areas, or add to any existing services, the Union and the City will need to discuss and amend the collective Agreement. The principles of the discussions would be to maximize operational flexibility so that any additional services which are being considered by the City, could be implemented in the most cost effective manner while maintaining the job security concerns of the Union.

Either party can activate discussions relating to this Letter of Understanding through Labour Management meetings. Amendments to the collective Agreement that are mutually agreed to by the parties would be implemented and administered through a Letter of Understanding.

Signed on Behalf of CITY OF QUESNEL

Signed on Behalf of CUPE LOCAL 1050

DATE Signed by both parties

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #5 BETWEEN CITY OF QUESNEL & CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 1050

Re: Employment Insurance Rebate Program

The parties agree that eligible employees under this program will be credited with banked time equivalent to the amount of rebate to which they are entitled. In accordance with the terms of this Program, this banked time will be credited to eligible employees prior to April of the year following that in which it is earned.

Signed on Behalf of CITY OF QUESNEL	Signed on Behalf of CUPE LOCAL 1050
DATE Signed by both parties	

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #6 BETWEEN CITY OF QUESNEL &

# CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 1050

Re: Employee Benefits Committee

The Parties share a concern for providing employees with health and welfare benefits in a cost effective and efficient manner. The Parties also recognize that while there are actions that can be taken to limit cost increases these costs are not entirely within their control.

At the 2005 negotiations the Parties discussed this matter and reached a mutual agreement that efforts should be made jointly to monitor and limit wherever possible any increased costs.

The Parties agree to create a joint committee to review on an ongoing basis the actual costs of providing the employees with the benefits provided under the collective agreement, and to consider cost saving alternatives.

The Committee shall be made up of a minimum of two (2) representatives of the City and a minimum of two (2) representatives of CUPE Local 1050. The committee may mutually agree to bring in any additional participants to the committee as they see fit.

Committee meetings shall normally be scheduled during employee's regular working hours and shall be paid as time worked. If a meeting of the committee should extend beyond an employee's normal work hours, the employee shall not be entitled to overtime pay. From time to time, it may be necessary to schedule meetings outside a committee member's regular hours. In these circumstances, an employee will be entitled to take equivalent time off, subject to regular approval procedures.

The committee shall determine by mutual agreement their meeting schedule and terms of reference within the following criteria:

- The committee shall be equally balanced insofar as representation of the City and Union;
- The committee can consider any/all methods of cost control related to health and welfare benefits;
- The committee will review any and all benefit plan contracts and may seek the advice of representatives of the benefit carriers or brokers or others;
- The committee will be supplied with and share openly statistical information

- related to benefit usage and costs;
- The committee can make recommendations to the City and Local 1050 as to suggested cost savings;
- No changes to existing benefit plans can be made except by mutual agreement of the City and Local 1050, and as outlined in a signed letter of agreement.

This letter of understanding and this committee will remain in place for the duration of the collective agreement.

Signed on Behalf of CITY OF QUESNEL

Signed on Behalf of CUPE LOCAL 1050

DATE Signed by both parties

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #7 BETWEEN CITY OF QUESNEL &

# CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 1050

# Successorship

The City recognizes the importance to the Union of successorship rights under Section 35 of the Labour Relations Code. In the event that the City no longer operates the Quesnel and District Twin Arenas complex or the Arena in the proposed Multicentre, the City will encourage the Cariboo Regional District to ensure that any successorship rights of City employees who work at the complex are recognized.

Signed on Behalf of CITY OF QUESNEL

Signed on Behalf of CUPE LOCAL 1050

DATE Signed by both parties

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #8 BETWEEN THE CITY OF QUESNEL AND CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 1050

Th	e parties agree t	that the	fol	lowing sha		be amend	ec	l in t	the	Col	lective	Agre	emer	۱t:
----	-------------------	----------	-----	------------	--	----------	----	--------	-----	-----	---------	------	------	-----

Payment for attending staff meetings

DATE Signed by both parties

This change will be effective upon date of signing.

The parties agree that where a staff meeting is called for a particular department or for the City as a whole, and employees who are not already scheduled to work wish to attend, they shall be paid for two hours at straight time rate. Should the meeting extend beyond two hours then employees will be paid for actual meeting time. This payment shall also apply to those employees who attend work prior to, or immediately after their regularly scheduled shift.

Signed on Behalf of CITY OF QUESNEL	Signed on Behalf of CUPE LOCAL 1050

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #9 BETWEEN THE CITY OF QUESNEL AND CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 1050

The parties agree that the following terms under the new Living Wage Policy for the City of Quesnel, effective November 1, 2016.

# **HOURLY WAGE RATE**

- 1. The parties agree to the following principles:
  - a. The Employer is subject to the Living Wage Employer Program (the "Program").
  - b. The Program's Living Wage rate is a wage floor, not a wage target.
  - c. In the event that the Program's Living Wage Rate for the current year exceeds an employee's Total Compensation Rate for that year, the employee's Hourly Wage Rate will be adjusted upwards to eliminate this differential.
  - d. "Total Compensation rate" includes the hourly rate and benefits paid.
  - e. Wage adjustments required under subsection (c) will be implemented on an employee-by-employee basis; the Wage Schedule will not be adjusted.
- 2. The Parties agree to the following process:
  - a. Each year, the parties will meet within 30 days of the recalculation of the Program's Living Wage, to discuss and agree on any impacts of the recalculation considering the principles outlined in section 1.
  - b. Wage adjustments required under subsection 1(c) will be implemented by the Employer during the final pay period in June of each year.

The following positions are exempted from the Program:

- a. Student Programs (E.g. Summer Museum Assistants)
- b. Diversification Program
- c. Skate Patrol

There is no intent to reduce wages as result of the implementation of this policy.

Signed on Behalf of	Signed on Behalf of	
CITY OF OUESNEL	CUPE LOCAL 1050	